IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

PATRICK H. BOOKER, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant

Supreme Court No. 20-1551

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
HON. MONICA L. ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

STEPHAN J. JAPUNTICH
Assistant Appellate Defender
sjapuntich@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WAS THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO WARRANT A CONVICTION FOR SEXUAL ABUSE IN THE THIRD DEGREE?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W. 2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Schrier, 300 N.W.2d 305, 306 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Kelso-Christy, 911 N.W.2d 663, 666 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Smith, 508 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 5.609(a)(1)(B)(2) (2020)

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655 (Iowa 1998)

II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN OVERRULING BOOKER'S BATSON CHALLENGE FOLLOWING THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY STRIKE OF JUROR NO. 38 AND IN GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION TO STRIKE JUROR NO. 24 FOR CAUSE WITHOUT SUFFICIENT REASON AND WITHOUT ARTICULATING ITS REASONING?

Authorities

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 628 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 811 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Jonas, 904 N.W.2d 566, 571 (Iowa 2017)

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 96, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1723, 290 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986)

State v. Thomas, 847 N.W.2d 438 (Iowa 2014)

Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 128 S.Ct. 1203, 170 L.Ed.2d 175 (2008)

Jennifer Lynn Moore, Bring Batson Back to Life? An Analysis of Snyder v. Louisiana 46 No. 5 Crim. Law Bulletin ART 5

Jury Selection — Batson Challenges, 122 Harv. L. Rev. 346, 354 (2008)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.18(5) (2020)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.18(5)(a-p) (2020)

State v. Williams, 285 N.W.2d 248, 267 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Winfrey, 221 N.W.2d 269, 273 (Iowa 1974)

State v. Beckwith, 242 Iowa 228, 232, 46 N.W.2d 20, 23 (1951)

State v. Prins, 113 Iowa 72, 84 N.W. 980, 981 (Iowa 1901)

State v. Hobson, 284 N.W.2d 239, 241 (Iowa 1979)

Watson v. Charlton, 243 Iowa 80, 93-94, 50 N.W.2d 605, 612-13 (1952)

III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT HAVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR THE STATE’S MOTION NUNC PRO TUNC? DID IT HAVE JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THE SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENT TO THE SENTENCING ORDER?

Authorities

S.S. v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Black Hawk County, 528 N.W.2d 130, 132 (Iowa 1995)

Iowa Code § 903B.1 (2019)

Schettler v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 509 N.W.2d 459, 463–64 (Iowa 1993)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.102(2) (2021)

In re Estate of Dull, 303 N.W.2d 402, 406 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Brooks, 630 N.W.2d 815, 818 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Banning, 205 Iowa 826, 218 N.W. 572, 574 (1928)

In re M.T., 714 N.W.2d 278, 281 (Iowa 2006)

Kirk v. Iowa Dist. Court, 508 N.W.2d 105, 108 (Iowa Ct.App.1993)

State v. Carney, 584 N.W.2d 907, 909 (Iowa 1998)

IV. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN OVERRULING BOOKER'S OBJECTION TO STATE'S EXHIBIT 35 ON THE BASIS OF RELEVANCE AS THE DOCUMENT FAILS TO PROVE THAT BOOKER IS THE SAME INDIVIDUAL REFERENCED THEREIN?

Authorities

State v. Einfeldt, 914 N.W.2d 773, 778 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 24 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401 (2018)

State v. Reynolds, 765 N.W. 2d 283, 289 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402 (2018)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2020)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Martin, 704 N.W.2d 665, 671 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 240 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.901 (2021)

Laurie Kratky Doré, Iowa Practice Series: Evidence § 5.901:0 (Nov. 2020 update)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issue raised involves a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Does a pretextual reason for striking a minority juror qualify as a “race-neutral reasons”?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal, by Patrick H. Booker, Jr., following conviction and sentencing for Sex Abuse in the Third Degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.4(1)(a) 902.14(1)(b) and 901A.2 (2017). Booker also appeals the application of the mandatory sentencing provision of Iowa Code § 903B.1 (2017).

Course of Proceedings: On August 26, 2019, Mr. Booker was charged with (Count I) Sexual Abuse in the 3rd Degree in violation of Iowa Code § 709.4(1)(a) (2019) and (Count II) Kidnapping in the First Degree in violation of Iowa

Code § 710.2 (2019). (Trial Information & Supplemental Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-8).

The matter went to trial and phase 1 concluded when a Dubuque County jury found Booker guilty of Count I and not guilty of Count II. (09/22/20 Verdict Forms) (App. pp. 11-21).

The second phase dealt with a prior, out-of-state sexual abuse conviction for purposes of sentencing enhancement. The jury found that Booker committed some form of sexual abuse in Illinois. (09/15/20 State's Exhibit 35 Cook County Certified Statement of Conviction/Disposition, 09/22/20 Supplemental Jury Instructions) (Ex. App. pp. 8-13, App. pp. 17-21).

A motion for new trial was filed on November 20, 2020. (Motion for New Trial) (App. pp. 24-28).

The court denied the motion for new trial in a written order. (11/19/20 Order Re Motion in Arrest of Judgment and Motion for New Trial) (App. pp. 24-33).

On November 23, 2020, Booker was sentenced to serve a term of incarceration for the remainder of his life. (Judgment & Sentence) (App. pp. 34-38).

A notice of appeal was filed on November 24, 2020. (Notice) (App. pp. 39-40).

On January 8, 2021, the State filed a motion nunc pro tunc requesting that the district court amend the sentencing order to conform to special sentence provision contained in Iowa Code § 903.B1 which applies to second or subsequent sex offenders. (Motion Nunc Pro Tunc) (App. p. 41).

A hearing was subsequently held on the State's motion and the court granted the State's request to amend the sentencing order. (01/20/21 Transcript of Proceedings).

A separate notice of appeal was filed on January 29, 2021. (1/29/21 Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 46-47).

The second appeal was consolidated with the instant case by order of the Supreme Court on March 5, 2021. (Order) (App. pp. 48-50).

Facts: Dr. Kevin Zettek is a physician employed by Mercy One in Dubuque. (Trial Transcript Vol. II pp 99 L 11-25, 100 L 1-2).

On April 18, 2018, CH was brought to the emergency room for treatment. She claimed that she had been sexually assaulted. (Vol. II p. 101 L 2-16).

An examination was performed by Dr. Zettek and a SANE¹ nurse and swabs were collected. The nurse interviewed CH. (Vol. II pp. 101 L 17-25, 102-103 L 1-25, 104 L 1-3, State's Exhibit 15 Examination Report) (Conf. App. pp. 66-67).

According to Dr. Zettek, the patient showed no signs of trauma; however, a whitish discharge was observed. (Vol. II pp. 107 L 9-24, 109 L 2-5).

Trisha Heston is a registered nurse and employed at Mercy One in Dubuque. Heston is a trained S.A.N.E. and provided treatment to CH. (Vol. II pp. 110 L 18-25, 111 L 1-

¹ SANE is an acronym for Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner.

25, 112 L 1-12, 113 L 6-11, State's Exhibit 16 S.A.N.E. Records) (Conf. App. pp. 68-72).

According to Heston, CH was examined on April 18, 2018, but the assault occurred on either April 13 or 14 of 2018. In the interim time period, CH indicated she had bathed and defecated. (Vol. II p. 116 L 9-20).

Although CH indicated that Booker had knocked her head against a wall, Heston did not observe any sign of trauma to her head. (Vol. II p. 117 L 1-10).

CH testified that although she hadn't seen him recently, she had known Booker for several years prior to August 14, 2018 and that she invited him to her house for a "tattoo party" wherein individuals would come to her house and get tattoos and body piercings. According to CH, Booker performed piercings and cut hair. (Vol. II pp. 123 L 18-21, 126 L 6-25, 127 L 1-2).

Booker brought with him his roommates Andy Cheeks (known as “Roo”), and Larry Earley. (Vol. II pp. 127 L 24-25, 128 L 1-25, 129 L 1-8).

Booker and the others arrived at CH’s residence on Friday afternoon and stayed the night. The following day, people came to CH’s residence and left after receiving their tatoos. That evening, only Booker, Earley, Cheeks and CH occupied the residence. (Vol. II pp. 129 L 12-25, 130 L 1-16).

CH had previously made plans to have sex with Booker and Cheeks. (Vol. II p. 136 L 16-24). Some time after midnight, all four of them were in CH’s bedroom. When Earley expressed his desire to join the activities CH became “uncomfortable” left the room and went into the kitchen. Booker followed her and began hitting her head against the wall causing injury to her lip and head. (Vol. II pp. 130 L 17-25, 131 L 1-4, 147 L 3-25). Booker also forced her to stand in the kitchen for some hours with the window open; CH claimed that it was cold outside at the time. (Vol. II pp. 131 L 5-10).

Eventually, CH left the kitchen, went to her room and laid down on her stomach. Booker entered her room, tore off her clothing and penetrated her vaginally and anally. Cheeks and Earley entered the room and told Booker to stop what he was doing and he told them to “mind their own business” and they left the room. (Vol. II p. 131 L 11-25).

Booker asked CH for medicine and she gave him four melatonin tablets which caused him to fall asleep. (Vol. II p. 132 L 1-10).

CH was also confronted with her deposition testimony wherein she denied suffering an injury to her lip and, subsequently, testified she could not recall if she had suffered an injury to her lip. (Vol. II pp. 157 L 19-25, 158 L 1-25, 159 L 1-10, 12/13/19; Deposition p. 56 L 9-24).

The State produced Officer Nicole Salazar who was dispatched to CH’s residence to investigate her complaint. She arrived at CH’s at 3:51 p.m. on April 17, 2018, (Vol. III pp. 4 L 15-25, 5 L 1-25, 6 L 1-16).

CH told her that red markings on the kitchen wall were from the injury to her lip. Officer Salazar photographed the wall. (Vol. III p. 12 L 1-11). However, she did not take a sample from the wall to have it analyzed. (Vol. III p. 17 L 18-23).

Salazar also photographed marks she observed on CH's person. (Vol. III p. 13 L 5-16, State's Exhibit 2 photograph of CH and Exhibit 3 photograph of CH's lip) (Conf. App. pp. 62-63).

Scott Stocksleger, of the Iowa Department of Criminal Investigations (DCI) Criminalistics Laboratory, is a forensic DNA specialist. (Vol. III p. 23 L 12-225, 24 L 1-12).

Stocksleger performed DNA analysis on the contents of a sexual assault kit, performed on CH, and buccal swabs obtained from Booker. The report was provided to the Dubuque Police Department. (Vol. III pp. 29 L 7-25, 30 L 1-10, State's Exhibit 14 DCI Laboratory Report) (Conf. App. pp. 64-65).

Stocksleger noted that the collection for the sexual assault kit occurred four days after the incident. He explained that after 3 days, the ability to test seminal fluid is greatly reduced. (Vol. III p. 32 L 5-24).

Stocksleger did not detect any spermatozoa on the anal swabs, nor did he detect seminal fluid on the vaginal swabs. (Vol. III p. 34 L 2-19).

However, he did discover “sperm fraction” from the vaginal sample which was part of a mixture of DNA from different donors. The DNA profile was incomplete, but a portion of the sample was consistent with the DNA of Patrick Booker. The chances of it coming from a different individual is “...1 out of 2.3 quintillion”. (Vol. III p. 34 L 20-25, 35-36 L 1-25, 37 L 1-6).

Andy Cheeks attended the tatoo party of April 14, 2018. (Vol. III pp. 91 L 19-22, 92 L 24-25, 93 L 1-2).

According to Cheeks, CH wanted to have sex with Booker, himself and Earley; Cheeks experienced a

physiological problem rendering him unable to perform sexually. (Vol. III p. 95 L 18-23).

Cheeks did not witness Booker having sex with CH. (Vol. III p. 95 L 24-25). Contrary to CH's testimony, Cheeks did not walk into a room while they were engaged in intercourse. (Vol. III p. 96 L 3-6). Cheeks did not observe Booker attempting to have sex with CH. (Vol. III p. 96 L 7-8).

Nor did Cheeks witness Booker trapping her in the kitchen, or did he hear "banging noises". (Vol. III pp. 96 L 19-23, 98 L 1-7).

Booker had keys to CH's apartment and Cheeks overheard Booker attempting to give the keys back to her. (Vol. III p. 98 L 8-20).

Next, the defense called Corby Yager. (Vol. III p. 103 L 17-20). Yager has known Booker for about two-and-a-half years. (Vol. III p. 104 L 13-14).

Yager also knows CH and attended the previously referenced tattoo party. After she arrived to the party, Yager

saw Booker, Cheeks, CH and her son. (Vol. III pp. 104 L 20-25, 105 L 20-25, 106 L 1-16).

During the weekend in question Booker texted messages to Yager that she considered being flirtatious. (Vol. III pp. 116 L 16-25, 117 L 1-10).

The defense produced April Saunders, age 49, who resided in the same quad-plex as CH during the relevant times. Saunders did not know Booker, Cheeks or Earley prior to the tattoo party. However, she did know CH prior to becoming her neighbor. (Vol. III pp. 111 L 8-25, 112-113 L 1-25, 114 L 16-25, 115 L 1-11).

Saunders testified that CH has a reputation for being dishonest. (Vol. III pp. 119 L 20-23, 126 L 8-21).

Saunders was told about the tattoo party by CH. During that weekend, she saw CH in her (Saunders') apartment on Friday, Saturday and Sunday; she also saw CH at the Dollar General Store on Saturday morning. They also talked on the

telephone during that same time period. (Vol. III pp. 115 L 12-25, 116 L 116 1-24).

CH talked to Saunders, in-person, at approximately 9 or 10 a.m. on Sunday morning and told her that ... “she was being raped...” but didn’t want Saunders sending her husband upstairs to help her. (Vol. III p. 121 L 4-24).

At the time of the Sunday conversation, there were still men in CH’s apartment. (Vol. III p. 122 L 5-9).

Ashanti Eason is Booker’s niece and a coworker and former roommate of CH. (Vol. III pp. 123 L 7-25, 124 L 1-25, 126 L 1).

Eason testified that CH has a reputation for being dishonest. (Vol. III p. 126 L 11-21).

Nancy Martin was another neighbor of CH’s at the quadplex. Martin and CH both lived in the upstairs units. Martin is not acquainted with Cheeks or Earley. (Vol. III pp. 129 L 15-19, 130 L 10-25, 131 L 1-19).

Martin was at home on the weekend of April 14th, 2018 and she testified she heard no “thumping or banging. (Vol. III pp. 131 L 20-25, 132 L 1-7).

Martin testified that CH has a reputation for being dishonest. (Vol. III p. 132 L 8-18).

Shane Flesher is an investigator for the Office of the State Public Defender. (Vol. III pp. 134 L 20-23, 135 L 1-8). During the course of his investigation of this case he obtained the phone records of Booker, CH and Saunders for 2018. (Vol. III pp. 137 L 10-25, 138 L 1-25, 139 L 1-3 Defendant’s Exhibit A Saunders’ Phone Records, Exhibit B Bookers Phone Records, Exhibit D CH’s Phone Records) (Conf. App. pp. 4-61).

The records indicate that April Saunders called CH at 1:00 a.m. on April 14, 2018. (Vol. III p. 143 L 14-23).

The defense called Larry Earley who testified that on the first day of his stay at CH’s apartment, during the relevant time period, he and Cheeks engaged in consensual group sex with CH. (Vol. IV pp. 32 L 20-23, 34 L 16-25, 35 L 1-9).

Earley testified that the bedroom he stayed in was next to CH's bedroom. During his stay, he never heard any banging, screaming or crying, nor did he witness Booker and CH engaging in sexual intercourse. (Vol. IV p. 36 L 11-23, 38 L 21-23).

Earley admitted having a close relationship with Booker, who is his brother, but didn't recall talking to him on the phone regarding Earley's testimony during Booker's stay in the Black Hawk County Jail. (Vol. IV pp. 40 L 9-25, 41 L 1-22).

Earley went from denying the conversation took place to saying he did not remember. (Vol. IV pp. 40 L 23-25, 41 L 1-25, 42 L 1-5).

Next, the following exchange between the prosecution and Earley took place:

Q. Well, you just told me that you hadn't talked to him on the phone, and now you're saying you don't remember.

A. Sir, I'm telling you, I haven't talked to my brother in so long. It could have been yesterday, and I don't remember. I don't remember talking to him."

(Vol. IV p. 42 L 3-8).

The State proposed to play a recorded phone conversation between Booker and Earley which took place on September 9, 2020. (Vol. IV p. 42 L 15-18).

The defense objected to the playing of the exhibit for the jury based upon Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2019). (Vol. IV p. 42 L 21-22).

Following a hearing outside the presence of the jury, the court allowed a specified portion of the exhibit to be played before the jury. (Vol. IV pp. 42 L 23-25, 43-49 L 1-25, 50 L 1-3, Court Exhibit 1-Disk).

Earley admitted that the voices on the recording were his, but he denied that Booker advised him on how to testify. (Vol. IV pp. 50 L 4-25, 51 L 1-14).

Based on Earley's denial, the State requested permission to play the remainder of the exhibit. Over Booker's 5.403 objection, the court allowed it to be played for the jury. (Vol. IV 51 L 15-25, 52 L 1).

After the recording had been played for the jury, the following exchange between the prosecution and Earley took place:

Q. Mr. Earley, correct me if I'm wrong, but it sounds like the two of you were discussing how you should testify?

A. You're wrong.

(Vol. IV p. 52 L 3-6).

On redirect examination Early testified that the only time Booker told him what to say he told him to tell "...only the truth."

(Vol. IV p. 61 L 8-14).

Nowhere in Booker's statements, as captured in Court's Exhibit, is there any attempt to influence the testimony of Early other than to tell him, what any competent trial lawyer would tell his witness; answer only the question, do not volunteer information. (Court Exhibit 1 00:27 to 01:29).²

² All times are approximate.

The State called Ashante Eason as a rebuttal witness. (Vol. IV p. 64 L 1-4). Eason is the twin sister of Ashanti Eason. (Vol. IV p. 64 5-22).

The State asked Eason if she was ever present when her sister talked to Booker about his story in the case. (Vol. IV p. 65 L 19-22). She expressed the opinion that, regarding her sister, “She’s not very truthful 90 percent of the time.” (Vol. IV p. 66 L 10-15).

Conversely, she testified that CH “...has been truthful as far as I know, to this day.” (Vol. IV p. 66 L 16-22).

On cross-examination she conceded that she knew CH had been convicted of Theft in the Second Degree. (Vol. IV p. 70 L 12-24).

The next rebuttal witness, Kayla Leib, CH’s sister, testified that CH is “...very truthful, always honest...” (Vol. IV pp. 68 L 1-25, 69 L 1-24).

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