IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-1551

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

PATRICK BOOKER,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MONICA L. ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

SHERYL SOICH
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
sherri.soich@ag.iowa.gov

C.J. MAY
Dubuque County Attorney

RICHARD KIRKENDALL
Assistant Dubuque County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The State presented substantial evidence establishing that the defendant committed third-degree sexual abuse and that he had committed prior sex offenses in Illinois, subjecting his sentence to enhancement. The trial court also correctly determined that the weight of the evidence did not preponderate heavily against the verdict.**

Standard of Review.

Sufficiency of the evidence claims are reviewed for the correction of errors at law. *State v. Hennings*, 791 N.W.2d 828, 832 (Iowa 2010); *State v. Canal*, 773 N.W.2d 528, 530 (Iowa 2009).

Weight of the evidence claims are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. “Nevertheless, we caution trial courts to exercise this discretion carefully and sparingly when deciding motions for new trial based on the ground that the verdict of conviction is contrary to the weight of the evidence.” *State v. Ellis*, 578 N.W.2d 655, 659 (Iowa 1998). This remedy has been described as “extraordinary.” *State v. Shanahan*, 712 N.W.2d 121, 135 (Iowa 2006).

Preservation of Error.

The defendant preserved error on his sexual abuse sufficiency claim by moving for a judgment of acquittal at trial. *See* Vol. III Tr. p. 59, lines 15 – p. 65, line 17; Vol. IV Tr. p. 88, lines 1-22. He preserved error on his weight of the evidence claim in a motion for a new trial.

See Oct. 29, 2020 Motion for New Trial; Nov. 19, 2020 Order; App. 24-28, 29-32.

Merits.

A. Sufficiency of the evidence.

Patrick Booker, Jr., first alleges that the evidence presented at trial was insufficient. This court should find, to the contrary, that the State presented substantial evidence establishing his guilt.

When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Edouard*, 854 N.W.2d 421, 437 (Iowa 2014). The court does not resolve conflicts in the evidence, assess the credibility of the witnesses, or weigh evidence. *State v. Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006). The court makes any legitimate inferences and presumptions that may fairly and reasonably be deduced from the evidence in the record. *State v. Hall*, 371 N.W.2d 187, 188 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985); *State v. Wheeler*, 403 N.W.2d 58, 60 (Iowa Ct. App. 1987). The test for whether the evidence is sufficient to withstand appellate scrutiny involves an inquiry as to whether the evidence is “substantial.” *State v. Musser*, 721 N.W.2d 758, 760 (Iowa 2006).

The findings of the factfinder are to be broadly and liberally construed, rather than narrowly, and in cases of ambiguity, they will be construed to uphold the verdict. *State v. Price*, 365 N.W.2d 632, 633 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985). Evidence meets the threshold criteria of substantiality if it could convince a rational factfinder that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Williams*, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27 (Iowa 2005). Substantial evidence to support the conviction may exist even if substantial evidence to the contrary also exists. *State v. Frake*, 450 N.W.2d 817, 818-19 (Iowa 1990). “Inherent in our standard of review of jury verdicts in criminal cases is the recognition that the jury [is] free to reject certain evidence, and credit other evidence.” *State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012) (quoting *Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d at 556).

In this case, the State was required to prove that Booker and the victim, C.H., engaged in a sex act and that the sex act was by force or against C.H.’s will. See Iowa Code § 709.14(1); see also Jury Instruction No. 15; App. 9. A sex act is defined, among other ways, as “sexual contact” between the genitals of one person and the genitals or anus of another person, or by penetration of a person’s penis into

another person's vagina or anus. Iowa Code § 702.17; *see also* Jury Instruction No. 18; App. 10.

“Against the will” is synonymous with “without the victim’s consent,” and “consent remains the lynchpin” in sex abuse cases. *State v. Meyers*, 799 N.W.2d 132, 142 (Iowa 2011). While Iowa’s 1851 Code required the sex act to be committed “by force and against [the victim’s] will,” “our legislature changed the conjunctive ‘and’ to ‘or’ in 1921.” *Meyers*, 799 N.W.2d at 142 (citing 1921 Iowa Acts ch. 192 § 1). The current statute, in contrast to the former, criminalizes either: “[W]e note section 709.4(1) does not require evidence of both force and the lack of consent, but one or the other.” *Id.* “The overall purpose of Iowa’s sexual abuse statute is to protect the freedom of choice to engage in sex acts.” *Id.* at 143.

Here, substantial evidence was presented at trial establishing that Booker sexually abused C.H. The victim’s testimony alone is sufficient on this point. Eyewitness testimony to a sex crime is not required. Although sexual abuse prosecutions used to require independent evidence corroborating the victim’s account, the law changed in 1976. “This requirement for corroboration evidence ‘plays on long-held myths that rape victims – and women more generally –

cannot be trusted.” *State v. Barnhardt*, No. 17-0496, 2018 WL 2230938, *4 (Iowa Ct. App. May 16, 2018) (quoting Tyler J. Buller, *State v. Smith Perpetuates Rape Myths and Should Be Formally Disavowed*, 102 Iowa L. Rev. Online 185, 195 (2017)); *see also State v. Hildreth*, 582 N.W.2d 167, 170 (Iowa 1998) (“Even if the only evidence of a sex act is the alleged victim’s testimony, it is sufficient to sustain a finding of guilt.”).

Here, as recounted above, C.H. testified unequivocally that Patrick Booker vaginally and anally raped her in her bedroom. She described the circumstances leading up to the sexual assault and testified to where, when, and how it occurred. Vol. II Tr. p. 130, line 17 – p. 131, line 25; p. 135, line 16 – p. 150, line 16.

Further, although corroboration is not required, evidence corroborating the victim’s account was presented. A photograph of C.H.’s ripped shirt was admitted at trial, as were photographs of her blood on the wall and her injured lip. Vol. II Tr. p. 131, lines 16-25; p. 141, line 18 – p. 142, line 8; p. 148, line 22 – p. 150, line 7; Vol. III Tr. p. 10, line 9 – p. 12, line 11; *see also* State’s Exhs. 4-11; Exh. App. 3-6. DNA consistent with Booker’s “extremely rare profile” was detected

on the vaginal swab taken from C.H. Vol. III Tr. p. 34, line 20 – p. 37, line 6.

On appeal, Booker criticizes the victim's testimony, pointing out various minor inconsistencies or uncertainties. For instance, Booker finds fault with C.H.'s hesitancy at trial regarding whether she actually injured her lip. Defendant's Brief pp. 31-32. However, Officer Nicole Salazar testified to C.H.'s statements at the time and photographed the swollen, red, and slightly cut lip three days later. Vol. III Tr. p. 10, line 9 – p. 12, line 11.

Booker also expresses skepticism that C.H.'s shirt would rip in a straight line – rather than a jagged one – as he would expect. Defendant's Brief p. 33; *see also* State's Exh. 4 (photograph of C.H.'s shirt); Exh. App. 3. The jurors would be well within their purview, however, to conclude that a shirt could tear in a linear or a jagged manner depending on the fabric, the location of the tear vis-à-vis the seams of the shirt, and the positions of the person tearing the fabric and the person wearing the shirt. The type of tear in C.H.'s shirt does not negate the strength of the evidence here.

Booker also points out that Andy Cheeks and Larry Earley both denied witnessing Booker rape C.H. Defendant's Brief p. 33. It is not

surprising that Larry Earley would testify in support of Booker, who is his brother. Similarly, Andy Cheeks is Booker's longtime friend and former co-defendant in a sexual abuse case in Illinois – not a disinterested witness. Moreover, the jury heard a recorded conversation between Booker and Larry Earley in which Booker instructs his brother, in crude and explicit terms, to not cooperate with the prosecutor. *See* Vol. IV Tr. p. 50, line 17 – p. 61, line 25; Court's Exh. 1 (audio recording). The fact that neither man testified against Booker is of little import.

Finally, Booker suggests that the evidence is insufficient by noting that C.H. was planning to participate in a *ménage à trois* with Andy Cheeks and him that weekend. Defendant's Brief p. 34. That fact alone, of course, does not establish consent, especially given that C.H. explained the sudden change in circumstances to the jury. Although Booker rightly acknowledges that a person can withdraw consent at any time, he maintains that the credibility of the victim is important in determining whether consent was truly given or withdrawn. While this may be true, the jurors heard all of Booker's attacks on the victim's credibility and were obviously unpersuaded by them. This is precisely their function. The jury may choose to believe

“all, some, or none” of a witness’ testimony. *State v. Phanhsouvanh*, 494 N.W.2d 219, 223 (Iowa 1992).

Booker also makes a brief reference to the sufficiency of the evidence establishing his identity as it pertained to his criminal history for enhancement purposes.² In addition to State’s Exhibit 35, which detailed the criminal record of “Patrick Booker” in Cook County, Illinois, the State presented the testimony of Booker’s friend Andy Cheeks. Cheeks testified that he and Booker were co-defendants charged with two counts of aggravated criminal sexual abuse in Chicago based on an incident that occurred on Nov. 28, 2011. Vol. V Tr. p. 12, line 14 – p. 13, line 11. Andy Cheeks and the defendant pleaded guilty simultaneously in May 2013 and were both sentenced to ten-year terms of incarceration. Vol. V Tr. p. 14, line 7 – p. 15, line 8. Cheeks identified Patrick Booker in the courtroom as the

² The State challenges error preservation with regard to the sufficiency of the evidence of Booker’s identity for enhancement purposes. Booker did not move for a judgment of acquittal before this issue was submitted to the jury. *See* Vol. V Tr. p. 18, lines 13-21. Error is not preserved. *See State v. Crone*, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996) (requiring a defendant to specify in his motion for a judgment of acquittal which element he contends has not been established in order to preserve error on that claim).

same Patrick Booker who was his co-defendant a decade earlier in Chicago. Vol. V Tr. p. 14, lines 21-24.

“Under Iowa law, identity of names – standing alone – is insufficient to establish identity of person.” *State v. Sanborn*, 564 N.W.2d 813, 815 (Iowa 1997). Additional evidence is required to prove identity. *Sanborn*, 564 N.W.2d at 816. The State in this case presented additional evidence; it used both a certified criminal history document and an eyewitness co-defendant to establish Booker’s identity. His insufficiency claim should be rejected.

B. Weight of the evidence.

Booker also challenges the weight of the evidence. Because the credible evidence did not preponderate heavily against the guilty verdict, Booker cannot prevail.

In *State v. Ellis*, the Iowa Supreme Court distinguished between the standard to be applied in evaluating motions for a judgment of acquittal during trial – evidence sufficient that a rational jury could convict the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt – and the standard to be applied in evaluating motions for a new trial – evidence that a greater amount of credible evidence supports one side of an issue. *Ellis*, 578 N.W.2d at 658. The *Ellis* standard requires the trial

court to examine issues of credibility in assessing whether a new trial is appropriate on the ground that the verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence. *Id.* “Except in the extraordinary case where the evidence in this case preponderates heavily against the verdict, trial courts should not lessen the jury’s role as the primary trier of facts and invoke their power to grant a new trial. A trial court should not disturb the jury’s findings where the evidence they considered is nearly balanced or is such that different minds could fairly arrive at different conclusions.” *Shanahan*, 712 N.W.2d at 135.

Booker cannot sustain his heavy burden of proof here. While the defense did present witnesses who briefly attacked C.H.’s credibility, the greater weight of credible evidence supported the guilty verdict. The impact of the defense witnesses who simply opined C.H. had a reputation for dishonesty could not outweigh C.H.’s credible, detailed, consistent, and corroborated testimony. No witness from the defense was able to contradict or cast doubt on the basic allegation of the rape, with the possible exception of fellow sex offender Andy Cheeks and the defendant’s brother Larry Earley, who claimed they did not witness Booker sexually abusing C.H.

The trial court specifically found Larry Earley’s testimony to be incredible. Nov. 19, 2020 Ruling p. 4; App. 32. The court also noted that the victim’s version of events during the investigation and at trial was consistent and credible. Nov. 19, 2020 Ruling pp. 3-4; App. 31-32.

This is not a case where the verdict should be disturbed. The trial court properly declined to invoke this extraordinary remedy, and Booker is not entitled to relief on appeal.

II. The trial court properly overruled the defendant’s *Batson* challenge to Juror No. 38 and rightly granted the State’s motion to strike Juror No. 24 for cause.

Standard of Review.

Appellate courts review *Batson* challenges *de novo* but give “great deference” to the trial court’s stated conclusions about the credibility of a striking party’s race-neutral explanations. *See State v. Veal*, 930 N.W.2d 319, 327 (Iowa 2019) (quoting *State v. Mootz*, 808 N.W.2d 207, 214 (Iowa 2012)); *State v. Griffin*, 564 N.W.2d 370, 375 (Iowa 1997) (quoting *State v. Knox*, 464 N.W.2d 445, 448 (Iowa 1990)). Rulings on strikes for cause are reviewed for an abuse of the

trial court’s “broad” discretion. *State v. Tilman*, 574 N.W.2d 105, 107 (Iowa 1994).

Preservation of Error.

Booker preserved error on his *Batson* challenge and his complaint regarding the removal of a juror for cause. *See* Vol. I Tr. p. 50, line 24 – p. 58, line 23; Vol. II Tr. p. 62, line 20 – p. 74, line 19.

Merits.

Booker next makes two complaints involving the selection of the jury. Neither claim entitles him to relief.

A. The *Batson* challenge.

Batson v. Kentucky prohibits the use of peremptory strikes during jury selection to engage in racial discrimination. *Mootz*, 808 N.W.2d at 214-15 (citing *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 100 (1986)). Iowa courts apply the *Batson* three-step analysis for assessing claims that a peremptory strike has been exercised on the basis of race:

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